Effect of Salix spp. in Styx Mill Conservation Reserve



Caitlin Dalziel, Isaac Grandiek, Patrick Henkel, Lily Morrow, and Josie Porterfield.

Table of Contents

Title page1
Executive summary3
Introduction4
Literature review4
Introduced and native plant interaction4
How invasive mammals impact native regeneration5
The physiology of willow trees, invasive traits, and removal techniques5
The effects of willow trees on native fauna biodiversity5
Historic wetland flora of Canterbury5
Methods
General plan and mapping6
Data collection7
Data analysis7
Results7
Discussion10
Herbivory10
Willow abundance10
Willow size11
Seed source11
Willows effect on native fauna11
Bank stability12
Future research12
Recommendations to New Zealand Conservation Trust13
Conclusion13
Acknowledgements14
Appendices14
References

Executive summary

- Styx Mill Conservation Reserve is a wetland area that holds cultural, social, and ecological value. Invasive willows can threaten the ecological health of wetlands and are present within Styx Mill Conservation Reserve.
- Willow removal techniques are labour and cost intensive. Is willow removal worthwhile to restore the natural environment?
- Our research question is: What are the impacts of willow tree presence on native plant regeneration at Styx Mill Conservation Reserve?
- Quantitative data collection method was used to compare native regeneration between three site categories: native vegetation, controlled willows and live willows.
- Site category had no significant effect on density of native regeneration. Level of herbivory, distance from stream, and willow size also had no effect on native regeneration.
- Our main recommendation is that willow management using glyphosate continues.
- Specifically, we recommend that willows are not completely cleared and that removal of willows closest to waterways is prioritised.
- We would encourage New Zealand Conservation Trust to develop a relationship with mana whenua due to the similarity of intentions and to encourage the preservation of mahinga kai and growth of native species.
- A major limitation of this research was time. This decreased the amount of data we could collect, decreased the spatial scale of the project, and meant we could not physically study the effect of willows on other areas of biodiversity.

Introduction

Restoration ecology is becoming increasingly important as anthropogenic stressors increase at an unprecedented rate, causing severe degradation and alteration to the natural environment (Suding, 2011). Severe habitat loss, increased fragmentation, and an influx of invasive species has resulted in a dramatic loss of native species. (Saunders & Norton, 2001). Given New Zealand's (NZ) unique geological background, landscape, and climate; there is a vast amount of endemism*. This increases the importance of restoration (Maranhão & Sant'ana, 2017). Wetlands have been severely impacted by these stressors. A considerable proportion of low-lying wetlands have been converted to farmland, and the remaining wetlands face increasing pressure from invasive species (Myers et al., 2013). Restoring these wetlands is critical as they create habitat for a variety of native biodiversity and provide essential ecosystem services (Maranhão & Sant'ana, 2017). Globally, wetlands contribute up to half of the world's ecosystem services including carbon sequestration, pollutant filtration, flood control, and important social and cultural resources (Myers et al., 2013). Māori value wetlands as mahinga kai sites and provide habitats for many taonga species (Anderson, 2008).

Styx Mill Conservation Reserve, hereafter referred to as Styx Mill, is a low-lying wetland located in Northwood, Canterbury. Significant conservation work at Styx Mill has improved the wetland environment, however, more work is required. *Salix spp* (willows) are an invasive species thought to be hindering native biodiversity. For this reason willow trees are being removed from Styx Mill to improve native biodiversity. We will explore the relationships between willow tree presence and native plant regeneration to determine whether this should be a leading factor in management decisions, and we will discuss other factors impacted by the removal of willows.

Wider brief from New Zealand Conservation Trust

Our brief was to determine whether willow trees were helping or hindering native (flora or fauna) regeneration, using Styx Mill as a case study.

Aim

To identify the impacts from willow trees on native biodiversity at Styx Mill Reserve to inform recommendations for future conservation.

Question

What are the impacts of willow tree presence on native regeneration at Styx Mill?

Literature review

Introduced and native plant interaction

There is conflicting research about if some invasive plants help specific natives establish in differing environments. Although the majority of research indicates a negative interaction. The treatment of willows with glyphosate increases native plant dominance after three years (J. Griffiths, Armstrong, Innes, & Terry, 2018). This is because willows decrease the diversity of native plant communities by reducing light availability and nutrients (J. W. Griffiths & McAlpine, 2017).

Some researchers have suggested that the interaction between introduced and native species can be positive. For example, shade tolerant native species can outcompete gorse. This is dependent on herbivory, seed source, and climate (Wilson, 1994). Invasive pecies in alpine ecosystems can help native plants establish by creating favourable environmental conditions (Cavieres et al., 2014). This

concept could be applied to Styx Mill. However, the benefits of nurse plants on species richness may be exclusively correlated with harsh environments (Callaway, Brooker, Choler, Zaal, & et al., 2002).

How invasive mammals impact native regeneration

Brushtail possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*), European rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*), and two rat species (*Rattus norvegicus, Rattus rattus*) are small invasive mammals consume native vegetation at Styx Mill (The Styx, 2020). There is limited information on the interaction between invasive mammals and willows, and how this impacts native plant regeneration (Wilson, 2003).

Possums and rats consume large quantities of native plant material such as seeds, flowers, fruits, and leaves, and in the absence of ungulates consume seedlings (King & Forsyth, 2021; Wilson, 2003; Clayton, 2008). At high densities *R. norvegicus* can alter the recruitment and composition of native plant communities (Allen, Lee, & Rance, 1994, Wilson, 2003). In native forests adjacent to pasture, damage caused to native plant seedlings was likely due to rabbits. Further away from pasture into the forest, seedling damage is reduced, as rabbits were less common (Gillman & Ogden, 2003).

The physiology of willow trees, invasive traits, and removal techniques

Willows tend to grow in well-watered environments or around damp/swampy areas (Weih et al., 2006). Their invasive traits enable them to survive in the water tract of highly disturbed sites with low native vegetation. The growth patterns of willows are the leading cause for invasive tendencies in willows as their access to waterways enables them to spread on large scales. Invasive tendencies include high dispersal rates through breakable branches dropping into waterways (Lewerentz et al., 2019). Researchers also found willow's complex root systems and higher growth rates in juveniles than natives, also contribute to invasive growth trends (Lewerentz et al., 2019).

Due to these invasive traits' willows require extensive removal techniques to target growth and reinvasion. Through a before-after control-impact experiment the application of drilling glyphosate into roots significantly reduced willow cover and reinvasion rates. This method is desirable for willow control as it provides accurate results with low collateral damage in non-targeted vegetation (Burge et al., 2017). Overall, results showed willows treated with glyphosate allow for increased native regeneration.

The effects of willow trees on native fauna biodiversity

The effects of willows on native biodiversity are varied. Willows in waterways positively effect native benthic invertebrates* and had no effect on native fish (Glova & Sagar, 1994).

Negative trends were also observed in terrestrial biodiversity. Native arthropod abundance and diversity decreased with the presence of invasive plants (Litt et al., 2014). Native beetle abundance and diversity decreased with grey willow presence (Watts et al., 2012).

Avian biodiversity peaked in areas of native vegetation, decreased with willow presence and was lowest in sites with no vegetation (Holland-Clift et al., 2011). This highlights the importance of strategic removal plans. A meta-analysis conducted by Schirmel et al., (2015), looked at native animal biodiversity responses to invasive plants across ecosystems. In 56% of studies invasive plants had a reducing effect on animal biodiversity and the remaining 44% of the time there was a neutral effect. No increasing effects were found. These studies illustrate that although results are not clear cut; invasive plants and willows specifically tend to have negative effects on native biodiversity.

Historic wetland flora of Canterbury

Prior to 1250 AD wetlands were dominated by native species such as kahikatea, rimu, and beech (Wood et al., 2018; Moar, 2008). After Polynesian settlers arrived in 1250 AD, much of the woody

canopy was burnt off to allow for water, nutrient, and sediment flow into the wetlands. This created more productive ecosystems where wetland birds, freshwater fish, and eels became abundant (McGlone, 2009). The wetland community composition changed and species such as: sedges, raupō, tī kōuka and harakeke; became dominant (McGlone, 2009; Pawson & Holland, 2005). These wetlands remain important to Māori for mahinga kai (Anderson, 2008). Importantly, there was a reduction in endemic biodiversity as the wetlands transitioned from swamp forest to more open wetland communities (McGlone, 2009).

A restored wetland community reflecting pre-1250 AD conditions would support more endemic biodiversity. However, would be less equipped to provide cultural ecosystem services (McGlone, 2009). This poses the question; should restoration goals reflect the ecosystem before or after Polynesian settlement?

Methods

General plan and mapping

We sampled at twelve sites in Styx Mill: four sites with controlled willows, four sites with live willows and four sites with native regeneration (called 'No Willows' in Figure 1). Potential sites were recorded with a GPS waypoint which were then collated into a map on Google Earth Pro (Google, n.d.a). This enabled us to mark out areas within Styx Mill that could be used for different treatments.



Site locations at Styx Mill Reserve

Figure 1: Map of sampling site locations within Styx Mill (Google, n.d.b).

We planned to sample four different willow treatments from Styx Mill. However, we found that there were only two potential sites where willows had been partially controlled, and this treatment was abandoned.

We were limited by the availability of potential sites within Styx Mill. This reduced the spread of sampling sites, making random sampling a challenge. For example, on the west side of Styx Mill there were few live willows. Therefore, at live willow sites the quadrat could not be randomly placed. In addition, accessibility also limited our ability to randomly sample sites. Some of the areas contained thick impassable undergrowth or deep mud that made it difficult to sample.

Data collection

We created a data collection sheet to record features of the site and density and size of native regeneration. Features recorded included site category, distance from stream and herbivory. At each site location, a 2m^2 quadrat was pegged out using a measuring tape. Initially, a 1m^2 quadrat was going to be used. However, a larger quadrat was decided on to represent the sites more accurately. Herbivory was judged by the abundance of lacerations to leaves. We used stem counts to identify density of native regeneration.

We identified species within our plots using iNaturalist (www.inaturalist.org; Nugent, 2018). When iNaturalist could not give us an accurate identification; we then photographed labelled seedlings and sent images to Professor Dave Kelly to identify any remaining species.

Data analysis

Our data was analysed using a generalised linear model (GLM) due to the non-normal distribution of count data. The original Poisson model failed the overdispersion assumption, so we changed to a multi-factor quasi-Poisson model. Data analysis was completed using R version 4.0.3, implemented in RStudio version 1.2.5033 (RStudio Team, 2019; R Core Team, 2020).

Results

A multifactor quasi-Poisson GLM tested relationships between native plant density and predictor factors; site category, willow abundance, level of herbivory and distance from stream (Figure 2). Site category did not significantly affect native plant density (Figure 2 & Figure 3). Willow abundance also had no significant effect on native plant density (Figure 2 & Figure 4). Level of herbivory had no significant effect on native plant density (Figure 2 & Figure 5). Finally, distance from stream also had no significant effect on native plant density (Figure 2 & Figure 5).

```
> glm.styx <- glm(total ~ willows + stream + willow.abundance + herbivory,</pre>
 family = quasipoisson, data = styx)
> anova(glm.styx, test = "F")
Analysis of Deviance Table
Model: quasipoisson, link: log
Response: total
Terms added sequentially (first to last)
                 Df Deviance Resid. Df Resid. Dev
                                                         F Pr(>F)
NULL
                                     11
                                             437.67
willows
                  2
                        3.826
                                      9
                                             433.85 0.0560 0.94600
stream
                  1
                       12.430
                                      8
                                             421.42 0.3641 0.56833
willow.abundance
                                             230.17 5.6022 0.05576 .
                  1
                      191.247
                                      7
herbivory
                  1
                       18.009
                                      6
                                             212.16 0.5275 0.49499
_ _ _
Signif. codes:
                0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
```

Figure 2: Analysis of deviance table from a multi-factor quasi-Poisson run testing the response variable of native plant density against predictor variables; site category, willow abundance, level of herbivory and distance from stream.



Figure 3: Boxplot showing density of native plants (stem count) between different site categories; native vegetation, controlled willows and live willows.



Figure 4: Boxplot showing density of native plants (stem count) between plots with varying amounts of willows; none, few, some and lots of willows.



Figure 5: Boxplot showing density of native plants (stem count) between plots with varying levels of herbivory; none, small and some herbivory. No sites had large amounts of herbivory.



Figure 6: Boxplot showing density of native plants (stem count) between plots found at varying distances from the stream; near (<2m), medium (2-7m) and far (>7m).

Discussion

Our analysis shows that willow trees have no significant effect on native plant regeneration at Styx Mill. However, conclusions gathered from recent literature have stated that willows and other factors can have an impact on aspects of native biodiversity.

Herbivory

Our results show herbivory had no significant effect on native plant regeneration. This is because the ten native species recorded within our plots are not proven to be highly preferred by rabbits or possums (Appendix A). Additionally, the absence of species such as mahoe (*Melicytus ramiflorus*) and hinau (*Elaeocarpus dentatus*) from Styx Mill could be because they are highly palatable to possums (Nugent, Fraser, Sweetapple, & New Zealand. Department of, 1997). This suggests that herbivory may be altering species richness. Species richness is the total abundance of species present in our sample and the absence of some species could imply an unhealthy ecosystem (Whittaker, Willis, & Field, 2001).

However, Figure 5 shows that when native plant density is highest so is herbivory. One reason for this result is that possums and rabbits are not commonly caught in Styx Mill. These species consume native vegetation in spots where it is most dense (The Styx, 2020).

Willow abundance

The results show that at Styx Mill there is no significant relationship between willow abundance and the density of native plants. One explanation for this is that most of the sampled sites only had establishing natives that were less than 50 cm tall and there were limited mature natives. Willows provide a sheltered area for seedlings to germinate by protecting them from stressful environmental conditions such as wind and flooding. One study showed that there was higher mortality of seedlings in open plots compared to beneath willows (Dona & Galen, 2007). This research is supported by our results (Figure 4) as the highest mean number of total native plants per plot was in the 'lots of willows' category.

The relationship between willow abundance and native regeneration is likely to be more apparent as the native trees mature. This is because as plants mature, they need higher levels of light and nutrients. Willows will compete with natives for resources and prevent them from reaching full maturity (J. W. Griffiths & McAlpine, 2017). Over the next 10 to 20 years the competitive relationship between willows and natives at Styx Mill can be observed in more detail.

Willow size

Sites with high abundance of willows tended to have smaller willow trees compared to sites with lower abundance where they were often larger. Although both willow abundance and willow size do not affect native plant density, they could prevent the establishment of native plants over time. This is likely because smaller willows do not provide the same sheltering effects to native plants. Furthermore, the increased abundance of maturing willows is likely to compete more vigorously with native plants for resources.

Seed source

At Styx Mill native plant establishment is more likely to be dependent on seed sources than willow abundance. Seed source is the best predictor of species diversity and the regeneration of later successional species (McClanahan, 1986). The closer a site is to a seed source the higher the tree and shrub density. This relationship is strongest at the early stages of native plant establishment (Kepfer-Rojas, Schmidt, Ransijn, Riis-Nielsen, & Verheyen, 2014). At Styx Mill, our results show that there are strong seed sources for *Comprosa, Pittosporum* and *Griselinia*. For example, 182 *Comprosa*'s were recorded whereas there was only one of *Dacrydium cupressinum* and *Plagianthus regius*. The frequency of *Comprosa* and *Pittosporum* species could also be attributed to their fast root and shoot growth allowing them to be a well-known early successional wetland plant (Marden, Rowan, & Phillips, 2005; Tulod & Norton, 2020). Styx Mill also has ideal conditions for non-woody plants such as *B. montanum* and *C. secta* found within our plots. This is because they can grow quickly in poorly drained organic peat soils common in wetland environments (Wehi & Clarkson, 2007).

Willows effect on native fauna

As there was no evident effect of willow tree presence on native regeneration, other factors should be considered in deciding whether the willows should be removed. Understanding the interactions that willows have with other native species is a crucial factor for conservation.

A meta-analysis conducted by Schirmel et al., (2015), looked at the effects of invasive plants on native animal diversity through a range of countries, ecosystems, and taxa. Majority of the time the impact on native animals was negative (56%) and the rest of the time there was a neutral effect (44%). This shows that on a wider scale, invasive plants tend to hinder native animals. More specific studies corroborated these trends. Another meta-analysis conducted by Litt et al., (2014), examined interactions between invasive plants and native arthropod communities. Finding reducing effects most common (62%) and increasing effects least common (15%). Exhibiting the general trend of invasives negatively impacting biodiversity.

Willows specifically are also shown to negatively impact native animals. Willows reduced diversity and abundance of native beetle species in a New Zealand study conducted by Watts et al. (2012). A negative effect was also seen in Australian native bird communities in response to willow presence. Diversity was highest in areas of native vegetation, dropped with willow presence and was lowest in areas that were completely cleared of vegetation (Holland-Clift et al., 2010). Looking at how willows impact avian biodiversity was important for this project as NZCT works heavily on trying to conserve native bird diversity. However, there was a gap in the literature looking at how willows impact native birds. When looking at instream diversity, willows had a positive impact on native benthic invertebrates, and no effect on native fish communities (Glova and Sagar, 1994). When studying these impacts, it is clear that in general, native animals are negatively impacted by invasive plants including willows. These interactions should be of utmost importance in management decisions, as if these studies are applied to Styx Mill, this would provide sufficient reason for the continuing removal of willow trees.

Bank stability

New Zealand is an erosion-prone country due to its geological setting with hilly and mountainous topography. Studies have shown that poplar (*Populus spp.*) and willow trees are widely used in soil conservation to prevent shallow landslides. Willows are especially good because of their lateral root development, high evapotranspiration rates, and tolerance to wet soils (Phillips et al., 2014). The installation of live willow posts as a bioengineering technique is also dominating bank stability efforts internationally. A study found the willow posts strengthen stream banks, reinforce soil stability, enhance sedimentation, and trap debris and soil blocks from upslope landslides (Watson et al., 1997).

Research suggests that although willows provide benefits for bank stabilization in larger catchments, their influence on smaller scale fluvial areas is too extensive for them not to be removed. Invasive willows can influence catchment water budgets through transpiration and interception in riparian areas which induces low-flow conditions (Marttila et al., 2018). Willows are unique as their roots spread into the bed of the watercourse, slowing the flow of water, and reducing aeration. This can divert water outside the main catchment channel, causing flooding and erosion where the banks are vulnerable (Marttila et al., 2018). Removal of these willows is an option to mitigate these effects but will depend strongly on the water-use characteristics of replacement vegetation (Marttila et al., 2018).

Willows at Styx Mill are inadequate to stabilise banks as it is a small-scale wetland area were changes in the channel morphology and accumulation of sediment are common. Therefore, the removal of willow trees at Styx Mill are necessary to support native regeneration growth and protect the natural river flow morphology.

Future research

Our research was limited since we only sampled twelve sites over a week period and only at Styx Mill. As a result, our analysis has low statistical power and only provides a small snapshot as to how willows affect native plant regeneration in NZ. We recommend that further research is conducted to better understand this.

A study by Williams (2011) concluded that replacement of woody, weed species such as willows by natives may be possible, but without long-term studies such as the one conducted by Hugh Wilson at Hinewai Reserve (Wilson, 1994), a conclusive answer cannot be provided. Therefore, future research should sample native plant regeneration in the presence of willows over the course of multiple years. It would be interesting to see whether native plants could outcompete willows over time. Future research should also focus on the effects of willows on native plant regeneration on a landscape scale. This is important because of the ability of willows to act as a nursery plant for native plants may depend on the native successional species that are present.

Recommendations to New Zealand Conservation Trust

We recommend that the current management of willows at Styx Mill continues. Although our study found that native plant regeneration was not affected by willow presence, the literature tells us that there are other crucial factors that should be considered. Wider biodiversity of animals is negatively impacted by invasive plants including willows (Schirmel et al., 2015; Holland-Clift et al., 2010)). Aspects of bank stability are important to consider as it differs with stream velocity. The Styx River is slow flowing through Styx Mill, and in areas with willows present it is known to encroach and push the water up over the banks. This is common with willows on the banks of slow flowing rivers (Marttila et al., 2018). This influences our recommendations, as we suggest prioritising control of willows near the river to avoid encroachment.

We also recommend maintaining the removal strategy that is occurring at Styx Mill currently which avoids clear-felling. Native biodiversity of animals, especially native birds, responds poorly to areas with no vegetation (Holland-Clift et al., 2010). Thus, drilling glyphosate into the base of the trunk and keeping the controlled willow trunk provides habitat for birds, invertebrates and keeps some shelter for native regeneration.

In addition to the continued management of willows, we also recommend the continued planting of natives. While this was not something we tested for, we found that native seedlings within sites had mature versions of those species close by. This suggests that seed source plays a significant role in native regeneration. This suggestion is corroborated by a study from Cordell et al., (2009) that also recommends management of non-natives and planting of natives to incentivise native regeneration.

A native species that has been shown to be capable of regeneration following willow control is kahikatea. (Griffiths & McAlpine, 2017). We would recommend planting more kahikatea to promote native regeneration growth reflecting similar elements from the historic wetland of Canterbury.

Future plans for native plant regeneration within Styx Mill should be mindful that invasive mammals have preferences for specific plant parts from certain species. Therefore, we recommend incorporating the control of possums and rabbits alongside rats within Styx Mill. This will benefit the regeneration of existent natives and establish others. This recommendation is supported through research conducted by Wilson et al., (2003) who reported that including invasive mammals such as rats increased native regeneration.

Conclusion

This project investigated the effect that willow trees have on native plant regeneration near waterways at Styx Mill Conservation Reserve. In association with the NZCT, we aimed to provide an insight into the effects willow management could have when restoring Styx Mill into a thriving wetland ecosystem.

Native plant size and density were sampled from four sites from the three categories: live willows, controlled willows, and native regeneration. Observations of herbivory, distance from a stream, willow abundance and willow size were also recorded. Analysis of this quantitative data using a multi-factorial quasi-Poisson model revealed that none of these factors had a significant effect on native plant density. However, future research sampling more sites could provide stronger conclusions.

Investigations into the literature do suggest that willows significantly affect other ecosystem components such as bank stability and avian habitat. Therefore, after assessing the findings from this project and the literature we have several willow management suggestions for the NZCT. Firstly,

we recommend that treatment of willows with glyphosate continues, prioritizing willows near streams. Planting of wetland plant species should be maintained to create a stable seed source for continued regeneration. In areas with willows kahikatea is preferable. Furthermore, pest control should continue to aid the establishment of native plants.

Further research is required to investigate if native plants can eventually outcompete willows. As the vegetation at Styx Mill matures the interaction between the native plants and willows will become clearer. The scope of further research should also include other areas around Christchurch and New Zealand.

Acknowledgements

The authors of this report would like to thank Hadee Thompson-Morrison for her guidance throughout this project and Dave Kelly for his advice on species identification and data analysis. We are also appreciative of Justin Harrison for the use of sampling equipment. Thank you to Andrew Christie, David Rate-Smith, Yvette Williams' whose knowledge of Styx Mill Reserve was invaluable to our research approach. Finally, thank you to Daniel Leadbeater and the New Zealand Conservation Trust for facilitating the project.

Appendices

Appendix A.

List of native plant species recorded in our plots at Styx Mill Conservation Reserve

Species:
Blechnum montanum (kiokio)
Carex secta (makura)
Coprosma propinqua (Mingimingi)
<i>Coprosma robusta</i> (Karamū)
Dacrydium cupressinum (Rimu)
Griselina littoralis (Kapuka)
Phormium tenax (Harakeke)
Pittosporum eugenioides (Tarata)
Pittosporum tennifolium (Kōhūhū)
Plagianthus regius (Manatu)

Appendix B.

Data collection sheet used at each sample site.

Site Number:	Site Location			Date:		Category:	LW D	DW N
Weather: (circle). Suni	ny/ Overcast		Raining	Windy		Other:		
Distance from stream: (circle). <2m	<7m	0	Herbivorv:	none	e small	some	lots
>7m								
Average willow size: 0-5cm	5-20cm	20+	Willow abu	ndance:	few	some	lots	
Species name:	Size	20.		Density	1011	501110	1013	
	<20cm			Denoicy				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
species nume.	<20cm			Density				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
species name.	<20cm			Density				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
species name.	<20cm			Density				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
species nume.	<20cm			Density				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
	<20cm			2 0.1010				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
	<20cm							
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
	<20cm			ŕ				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							
Species name:	Size			Density				
	<20cm			<u>′</u>				
	20-50cm							
	50cm-1m							
	1m+							

References

- Allen, R. B., Lee, W. G., & Rance, B. D. (1994). Regeneration in indigenous forest after eradication of Norway rats, Breaksea Island, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Botany, 32(4), 429-439. doi:10.1080/0028825X.1994.10412930
- Anderson, A. (2008). Māori land and livelihood AD 1250-1850. In M. Winterbourn, G. Knox, C. Burrows, & I. Marsden (Eds.), *The Natural History of Canterbury* (pp. 65–88). Canterbury University Press.
- Burge, O. R., Bodmin, K. A., Clarkson, B. R., Bartlam, S., Watts, C. H., Tanner, C. C., & Marrs, R. (2017).
 Glyphosate redirects wetland vegetation trajectory following willow invasion. *Applied* vegetation science, 20(4), 620-630. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12320
- Callaway, R. M., Brooker, R. W., Choler, P., Zaal, K., & et al. (2002). Positive interactions among alpine plants increase with stress. *Nature*, *417*(6891), 844-848. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature00812
- Cavieres, L. A., Brooker, R. W., Butterfield, B. J., Cook, B. J., Kikvidze, Z., Lortie, C. J., Michalet, R.,
 Pugnaire, F. I., Schöb, C., Xiao, S., Anthelme, F., Björk, R. G., Dickinson, K. J. M., Cranston, B.
 H., Gavilán, R., Gutiérrez-Girón, A., Kanka, R., Maalouf, J., Mark, A. F., ... Callaway, R. M.
 (2014). Facilitative plant interactions and climate simultaneously drive alpine plant diversity. *Ecology letters*, *17*(2), 193-202. doi:10.1111/ele.12217
- Clayton, R. I. (2008). Response of seedling communities to mammalian pest eradication on Ulva Island, Rakiura National Park, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, *32*(1), 103-107.
- Cordell, S., Ostertag, R., Rowe, B., Sweinhart, L., Vasquez-Radonic, L., Michaud, J., Cole, T. C., & Schulten, J. R. (2009). Evaluating barriers to native seedling establishment in an invaded Hawaiian lowland forest. *Biological Conservation*, *142*(12), 2997-3004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.07.033
- Dona, A. J., & Galen, C. (2007). Nurse Effects of Alpine Willows (Salix) Enhance Over-winter Survival at the Upper Range Limit of Fireweed, Chamerion Angustifolium. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 39*(1), 57-64. doi:10.1657/1523-0430(2007)39[57:NEOAWS]2.0.CO;2
- Gillman, L. N., & Ogden, J. (2003). Seedling mortality and damage due to non-trophic animal interactions in a northern New Zealand Forest. *Austral Ecology, 28*(1), 48-52. doi:10.1046/j.1442-9993.2003.01247.x
- Glova, G. J., & Sagar, P. M. (1994). Comparison of fish and macroinvertebrate standing stocks in relation to riparian willows (Salix spp.) in three New Zealand streams. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, *28*(3), 255–266.
- Google. (n.d.a). [Google Map of Styx Mill Conservation Reserve]. Retrieved 20th of September 2021, from https://earth.google.com/web/@43.4731378,172.61016528,3110.05893476a,0d,35y,0.9368 h,17.797t,-0.0008r?utm_source=earth7&utm_campaign=vine&hl=en
- Google. (n.d.b). [Google Map of Styx Mill Conservation Reserve]. Retrieved 4th of October 2021, from https://earth.google.com/web/@43.4731378,172.61016528,3110.05893476a,0d,35y,0.9368 h,17.797t,-0.0008r?utm_source=earth7&utm_campaign=vine&hl=en

- Griffiths, J. W., & McAlpine, K. G. (2017). Aerial glyphosate application reduces grey willow (Salix cinerea) canopy cover, increases light availability, and stimulates kahikatea (Dacrycarpus dacrydioides) growth. *New Zealand journal of ecology*, *41*(2), 234-239.
- Griffiths, J., Armstrong, H., Innes, R., & Terry, J. (2018). Can aerial herbicide application control Grey Willow (Salix cinerea L.) and stimulate native plant recovery in New Zealand wetlands? *Ecological management & restoration*, *19*(1), 49-57. doi:10.1111/emr.12299
- Holland-Clift, S., O'Dowd, D. J., & Mac Nally, R. (2011). Impacts of an invasive willow (Salix × rubens) on riparian bird assemblages in south-eastern Australia. *Austral Ecology, 36*(5), 511–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2010.02178.x
- Kepfer-Rojas, S., Schmidt, I. K., Ransijn, J., Riis-Nielsen, T., & Verheyen, K. (2014). Distance to seed sources and land-use history affect forest development over a long-term heathland to forest succession. *Journal of vegetation science*, 25(6), 1493-1503. doi:10.1111/jvs.12203
- King, C. M., & Forsyth, D. M. (2021). *The handbook of New Zealand mammals* (Third ed.). Dunedin, New Zealand; Clayton South, VIC; CSIRO Publishing.
- Lewerentz, A., Egger, G., Householder, J. E., Reid, B., Braun, A. C., & Garófano-Gómez, V. (2019). Functional assessment of invasive Salix fragilis L. in north-western Patagonian flood plains: A comparative approach. Acta oecologica (Montrouge), 95, 36-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2019.01.002
- Litt, A. R., Cord, E. E., Fulbright, T. E., & Schuster, G. L. (2014). Effects of Invasive Plants on Arthropods. *Conservation Biology*, *28*(6), 1532–1549.
- Maranhão, H. L., & Sant'ana, L. P. (2017). New Zealand's wetlands: Conservation and wise use. *Scientific Electronic Archives*, 10(1), 80–87. https://doi.org/10.36560/1012017422
- Marden, M., Rowan, D., & Phillips, C. (2005). Stabilising characteristics of New Zealand indigenous riparian colonising plants. *Plant and Soil, 278(1/2),* 95-105. doi:10.1007/s11104-004-7598-2
- Marttila, H., Dudley, B. D., Graham, S., & Srinivasan, M. S. (2018). Does transpiration from invasive stream side willows dominate low-flow conditions? An investigation using hydrometric and isotopic methods in a headwater catchment. *Ecohydrology*, *11*(2), e1930-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.1930
- McClanahan, T. R. (1986). The Effect of a Seed Source on Primary Succession in a Forest Ecosystem. *Vegetatio*, *65*(3), 175-178. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.canterbury.ac.nz/stable/20037287
- McGlone, M. S. (2009). Postglacial history of New Zealand wetlands and implications for their conservation. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, *33*(1), 23.
- Meurk, C. D., & Christchurch. City, C. (2004). *The Styx, Pūrākaunui: vegetation & landscape potential, Styx River Catchment, Christchurch*. Retrieved from Christchurch, N.Z.: https://go.exlibris.link/93gN8BfF
- Moar, N. (2008). Late Quaternary Vegetation. In M. Winterbourn, G. Knox, C. Burrows, & I. Marsden (Eds.), *The Natural History of Canterbury* (pp. 169–194). Canterbury University Press.
- Myers, S. C., Clarkson, B. R., Reeves, P. N., & Clarkson, B. D. (2013). Wetland management in New Zealand: Are current approaches and policies sustaining wetland ecosystems in agricultural

landscapes? *Ecological Engineering*, *56*(Journal Article), 107–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2012.12.097

- Nugent, G., Fraser, K. W., Sweetapple, P. J., & New Zealand. Department of, C. (1997). *Comparison of red deer and possum diets and impacts in podocarp-hardwood forest, Waihaha Catchment, Pureora Conservation Park* (Vol. 50.;50;). Wellington, N.Z: Dept. of Conservation.
- Nugent, J. (2018). iNaturalist: Citizen science for 21st-century naturalists. *Science Scope, 41*(7), 12-13. https://web-p-ebscohostcom.ezproxy.canterbury.ac.nz/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=5fbdff82-01ad-4108ba42-2dcbe5e9cfc7%40redis
- Pawson, E., & Holland, P. (2005). Lowland Canterbury landscapes in the making. New Zealand *Geographer, 61*(2), 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7939.2005.00020.x
- Phillips, C. J., Marden, M., & Suzanne, L. M. (2014). Observations of root growth of young poplar and willow planting types. *New Zealand journal of forestry science*, 44(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40490-014-0015-6
- R Core Team. (2020). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- RStudio Team. (2019). *RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R*. RStudio, Inc. http://www.rstudio.com/
- Saunders, A., & Norton, D. A. (2001). Ecological restoration at Mainland Islands in New Zealand. Biological Conservation, 99(1), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(00)00192-0
- Schirmel, J., Bundschuh, M., Entling, M. H., Kowarik, I., Buchholz, S., & Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. (2016). Impacts of invasive plants on resident animals across ecosystems, taxa, and feeding types: A global assessment. *Global Change Biology*, 22(2), 594–603. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13093
- Suding, K. N. (2011). Toward an Era of Restoration in Ecology: Successes, Failures, and Opportunities Ahead. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 42(1), 465–487. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145115
- The Styx. (2020). *Trapping Stats 2020. Styx Living Laboratory Trust Community Research Results.* Retrieved from. https://www.thestyx.org.nz/sites/default/files/research/the_styx_-_trapping_stats_2020.pdf.pagespeed.ce.IUCeKNZ2ox.pdf
- Tulod, A. M., & Norton, D. A. (2020). Regeneration of native woody species following artificial gap formation in an early-successional forest in New Zealand. *Ecological management & restoration*, 21(3), 229-236. doi:10.1111/emr.12429
- Watson, C. C., Abt, S. R., & Derrick, D. (1997). Willow posts bank stabilization. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 33*(2), 293-300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1997.tb03510.x

- Watts, C., Rohan, M., & Thornburrow, D. (2012). Beetle community responses to grey willow (Salix cinerea) invasion within three New Zealand wetlands. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*, 39(3), 209–227.
- Wehi, P. M., & Clarkson, B. D. (2007). Biological flora of New Zealand 10. Phormium tenax, harakeke, New Zealand flax. New Zealand Journal of Botany, 45(4), 521-544. doi:10.1080/00288250709509737
- Weih, M., Rönnberg-Wästljung, A. C., & Glynn, C. (2006). Genetic Basis of Phenotypic Correlations among Growth Traits in Hybrid Willow (Salix dasyclados x S. viminalis) Grown under Two Water Regimes. *The New phytologist*, *170*(3), 467-477. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01685.x
- Whittaker, R. J., Willis, K. J., & Field, R. (2001). Scale and species richness: towards a general, hierarchical theory of species diversity. *Journal of biogeography, 28*(4), 453-470. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2699.2001.00563.x
- Williams, P. A. (2011). Secondary succession through non-native dicotyledonous woody plants in New Zealand. *New Zealand Natural Sciences, 36*, 73-91
- Wilson, D. J., Lee, W. G., Webster, R. A., & Allen, R. B. (2003). Effects of possums and rats on seedling establishment at two forest sites in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, 27(2), 147-155.
- Wilson, H. D. (1994). Regeneration of native forest on Hinewai Reserve, Banks Peninsula. *New Zealand journal of botany*, *32*(3), 373-383. doi:10.1080/0028825X.1994.10410480
- Wood, J., Wilmshurst, J., & McGlone, M. (2018). Two new Holocene vegetation records from the margins of the Canterbury Plains, South Island, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 42(2). https://doi.org/10.20417/nzjecol.42.21
- Wotton, D. M., & McAlpine, K. G. (2013). Predicting native plant succession through woody weeds in New Zealand. (DOC Research and Development Series 336). Department of Conservation. https://ndhadeliver.natlib.govt.nz/delivery/DeliveryManagerServlet?dps_pid=IE20027702